IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-1734

LOWER TRIBUNAL NO. 79-167-CFB

PAUL WILLIAM SCOTT,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

D. TODD DOSS
Florida Bar No. 0910384
725 Southeast Baya Drive
Suite 102
Lake City, FL 32025-6092
Telephone (386) 755-9119
Facsimile (386) 755-3181

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Scott's motion for DNA testing. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.853. The circuit court denied Mr. Scott's claims after a non-evidentiary hearing.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case has an extensive procedural history. Mr. Scott was sentenced to death for a 1978 murder, which was affirmed by this Court on direct appeal. Scott v. State, 411 So. 2d 866 (Fla. 1982). Mr. Scott subsequently petitioned this Court for a writ of habeas corpus and a writ of error coram nobis, both of which were denied. Scott v. Wainwright, 433 So. 2d 974 (Fla. 1983). Mr. Scott then filed a Rule 3.850 motion that eventually was decided adversely to him and was affirmed by this Court. Scott v. State, 513 So.2d 653 (Fla. 1985). A death warrant was signed for Mr. Scott in 1990. After granting a stay for new postconviction counsel to file another Rule 3.850 motion, that motion was summarily denied and affirmed by this Court, as was second habeas petition. Scott v. Dugger, 634 So.2d 1062 (Fla. 1993). After a second death warrant was signed in 1994, Mr. Scott filed a third Rule 3.850 motion that was denied and subsequently this Court remanded for an evidentiary hearing. Scott v. State, 657 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1995). His second writ of habeas corpus to this Court was denied concurrently with the remand. Scott v. Singletary, 657 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1995). After remand and the evidentiary hearing the trial court denied relief and this Court affirmed. Scott v. State, 717 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1998), cert. denied, Scott v. Florida, 525 U.S. 972, 119 S.Ct. 425, 142 L.Ed.2d 346 (1998).

Mr. Scott has also litigated his cause in the federal court system. His initial habeas petition was denied. Scott v.Dugger, 686

F.Supp. 1488 (S.D. Fla. 1988), aff'd, 891 F.2d 800

(11 th Cir. 1989), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 881, 111 S.Ct. 224, 112

L.Ed.2d 179 (1990). The Eleventh Circuit also denied a request that it recall its mandate. Scott v. Singletary, 38 F.3d 1547

(11 Cir. 1994).

Mr. Scott most recently filed a post-conviction motion for DNA testing which was summarily denied. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The U.S. Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals has stated the facts in this case as follows:

On December 4, 1978, between 7 and 10 p.m., appellant, Paul William Scott, Charles Soutullo, and Richard Kondian, engaged in a conversation that Soutullo's girlfriend (Felicia) could not hear. According to Soutullo, the appellant and Kondian asked him to join them in robbing Jim Alessi and killing him by injecting battery acid into his body. Soutullo refused to join and told Felicia about the conversation. Late that evening, Alessi arrived at his father's house to borrow the father's station wagon. Alessi, Kondian, and the appellant then left Alessi's father's house in the station wagon and another vehicle.

The next morning, Palm Beach County, Florida, law enforcement officers found Alessi's nude body in his living room amidst a large amount of blood and disarranged furniture. The officers found Alessi's feet and hands bound with electrical and telephone cords. A teddy bear statue was broken and scattered near Alessi's feet. The officers also found the appellant's fingerprints in the kitchen, on an ashtray in the family room, on the cover of a book in the living room, and on the bloodstained tip of a knife. Articles in the house indicated that a violent struggle had taken place moving from room to room. Alessi's death resulted from several blows to the head by a blunt instrument. Examination revealed that Alessi's hands and feet had been tied while he

was still alive, causing swelling. Following Alessi's murder, the appellant and Kondian stole Alessi's automobile and stole jewelry from Alessi's flower and jewelry store in another part of the city. On December 7, 1978, Soutullo told law enforcement officers about the conversation with the appellant and Kondian regarding the robbery plans. On January 4, 1979, law enforcement officers arrested the appellant in California. Following the arrest, law enforcement officers seized a golden bear charm from the appellant's room.

Scott v. Dugger, 891 F.2d 800,801-802 (11 cir. 1989).

Appellant, Paul Scott, filed a pro se motion for postconviction DNA testing on September 23, 2005 (Vol. 21, 41144121). Subsequently, and pursuant to the trial court's order, an amended motion was filed on November 17, 2005. (Vol. 22, 41224136). The trial court appointed counsel Michael Morris, who amended the original motion on two occasions. Within the final version of his DNA motion, Mr. Scott requested testing on five items of evidence, including:

- 1. Blood stains from a wood chair found in the kitchen;
- 2. Blood stain from family room hallway to bedroom floor area, circle of blood 3.5 inches to 4 inches in diameter;
- 3. Blood stains on the south wall;
- 4. Blood stains from the dividing wall of bed and family room, south end;
- 5. Blood stains from hall wall.

See Vol. 22, 4190-4193.

The trial court ordered the State of Florida to respond to Mr. Scott's motion. A non-evidentiary hearing on Defendant's Second Amended Motion for Postconviction DNA Testing was eventually held on August 14, 2006. Immediately following the brief hearing, the trial court rendered its Order Denying

Defendant's Second Amended Motion for Postconviction DNA Testing. See Vol. 22, 4300-4301. In pertinent part the order found:

- 1. The Motion is technically legally insufficient in the Defendant fails to allege that heis innocent and fails to allege how the DNA Testing required by the Motion would exonerate him of the crime of which he was convicted.
- 2. However, even if the Motion was technically legally sufficient, it fails on its merits because the Defendant has failed to show reasonable probability that the Defendant would have been acquitted or would have received a lesser sentence if the DNA evidence tested favorably and had been admitted at trial. The other evidence at trial, specifically fingerprint evidence, indisputably demonstrated that the Defendant was present at the scene. Viewed in its entirety, the evidence at trial is such that there is no reasonable probability that Defendant would have been acquitted or received a lesser sentence had DNA evidence been admitted.

Vol. 22, 4300-4301.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not abide by the requirements of Rule 3.853(c)(5), Fl.R.Cr.P., in its Order Denying Defendant's Second Amended Motion for Postconviction DNA Testing. The trial court failed to make the required findings as to (1) whether the physical evidence that may contain DNA still exists; (2) whether the results of testing likely would be admissible at trial; (3) whether there exists reliable proof to establish that the evidence is authentic and would be admissible at a future hearing; and (4) whether there is a reasonable probability that Mr. Scott would have been acquitted or received a lesser sentence if the DNA evidence was admitted at trial.

The trial court's finding that the motion "fails on its merits," and therefore should be summarily denied, is erroneous because the record does not show conclusively that Mr. Scott is not entitled to relief. The trial court also failed to attach any portions of the trial record or conduct an evidentiary hearing to determine these issues.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

As the issues decided here were purely legal with no findings of fact, this Court should apply a standard of de novo review.

ARGUMENT I

MR. SCOTT'S MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION DNA TESTING IS TECHNICALLY SUFFICIENT AND THE LOWER COURT ERRED WHEN IT FOUND OTHERWISE.

Rule 3.853(b), Fl.R.Cr.P. provides a clear outline of what a defendant must do in filing a motion for DNA testing pursuant to that rule. Specifically, 3.853(b) mandates that a motion for DNA testing must include the following:

- (b) Contents of the Motion The motion for postconviction DNA testing must be under oath and must include the following:
- (1) a statement of the facts relied upon in support of the motion, including a description of the physical evidence containing DNA to be tested and, if known, the present location or last known location of the evidence and how it originally was obtained;
- (2) a statement that the evidence was not previously tested for DNA, or a statement that the results of previous DNA testing were inconclusive and that subsequent scientific developments in DNA testing techniques likely would produce a definitive result establishing that the movant is not the person who committed the crime;

- (3) a statement that the movant is innocent and how the DNA testing requested by the motion will exonerate the movant of the crime for which the movant was sentenced, or a statement how the DNA testing will mitigate the sentence received by the movant for that crime;
- (4) a statement that identification of the movant is a genuinely disputed issue in the case and why it is an issue or an explanation of how the DNA evidence would either exonerate the defendant or mitigate the sentence that the movant received;
- (5) a statement of any other facts relevant to the motion; and
- (6) a certificate that a copy of the motion has been served on the prosecuting authority.

In its order summarily denying DNA testing, the circuit court found that "[t]he Motion is technically legally insufficient in that Defendant fails to allege that he is innocent and fails to allege how the DNA Testing (sic) required by the Motion would exonerate him of the crime of which he was convicted." Vol. 22, 4300. It is not clear what exactly the circuit court meant in finding that the motion was "technically legally insufficient." This Court has held that a motion is technically sufficient when all of the components of 3.853(b) have been met. See, e.g., Sireci v. State, 908 So.2d 321, 325 (Fla. 2005)(finding that, as defendant's DNA motion met all the requirements of 3.853(b)(1)-(6), the lower court erred in finding that the motion was not technically sufficient); See also Manual v. State, 855 So.2d 97 (Fla.2nd DCA 2003).

Contrary to the lower court's findings, Mr. Scott filed a facially,

technically sufficient DNA motion in accordance with 3.853(b) and applicable caselaw. See Vol.22, 4190-4193. He described the physical evidence to be tested and the last known location of such evidence, as required by 3.853(b)(1). See Vol. 22, 4190-4191 at ¶2-3. In accordance with 3.853(b)(2), Mr. Scott stated that the evidence he wished to have tested was not previously tested for DNA. See id. at ¶4. Additionally, and contrary to the lower court's finding, Mr. Scott explicitly claimed that he was "innocent of the crime of which he was convicted" (i.e., capital first-degree murder), and provided an explanation of how the tested evidence would establish his innocence of the capital crime for which he was convicted and sentenced, as required by 3.853(b)(3). See id. 4191 at ¶5. Finally, in accordance with 3.853(b)(4), Mr. Scott also alleged that his identity was genuinely disputed in his case, insofar as he denied being present for the murder, but admitted being present for an altercation between himself, the co-defendant, and the victim. See id. at 4191-2 ¶6. Specifically, Mr. Scott argued that if the blood evidence which he requested to have tested was determined not to belong to the victim, it would undermine the State's case against him by demonstrating that Mr. Scott was not guilty of capital first-degree murder, but rather innocent or guilty of a lesser charge predicated on a "defense of others" theory. See id. at 4192 ¶7. These statements are in compliance with 3.853(b), and contrary to the lower court's finding that Mr. Scott failed to allege how the DNA testing would exonerate him. Therefore, the lower court erred in ruling that Mr. Scott's motion was

"technically legally insufficient" and DNA testing should be ordered by this Court, or, alternatively, reverse and remand to the lower court for an evidentiary hearing as to the propriety of DNA testing.

ARGUMENT II

THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT THE MOTION "FAILS ON ITS MERITS" AND THEREFORE SHOULD BE SUMMARILY DENIED VIOLATES MR. SCOTT'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS UNDER THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 9 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION FOR FAILURE TO FOLLOW THE DICTATES OF RULE 3.853(c)(5)AND FAILURE TO ATTACH AND/OR REFERENCE RECORD PORTIONS THAT SHOW MR. SCOTT IS CONCLUSIVELY ENTITLED TO NO RELIEF.

The trial court did not abide by the requirements of Rule 3.853(c)(5), Fl.R.Cr.P., in its Order Denying Defendant's Second Amended Motion for Postconviction DNA Testing. The trial court failed to make the required findings as to (1) whether the physical evidence that may contain DNA still exists; (2) whether the results of testing would be admissible likely would be admissible at trial; (3) whether there exists reliable proof to establish that the evidence is authentic and would be admissible at a future hearing; and (4) whether there is a reasonable probability that Mr. Scott would have been acquitted or received a lesser sentence if the DNA evidence was admitted at trial.

Rule 3.853(c)(5), Fl.R.Cr.P. directs trial courts as to the findings that must be made when ruling on motions requesting postconviction DNA testing. The first requirement is to determine "[w]hether it has been shown that physical evidence that may contain DNA still exists." Rule 3.853(c)(5)(A), Fl.R.Cr.P. The lower court failed to make such a finding and does not mention this required finding

whatsoever in its order denying DNA testing. See Vol. 22, 4300-01.

The second requirement is that the lower court must find "[w]hether the results of DNA testing of that physical evidence likely would be admissible at trial and whether there exists reliable proof to establish that the evidence containing the tested DNA is authentic and would be admissible at a future hearing." Rule 3.853(c)(5)(B), Fl.R.Cr.P. Essentially, this subsection requires the court to make two findings: the first in regard to the authenticity of the evidence; and the second as to whether such evidence would be admissible. Yet within the lower court's order denying Mr. Scott DNA testing, neither authenticity nor admissibility is even addressed. The lower court's failure to make these essential determinations is a clear subversion of the rule and a violation of Mr. Scott's due process rights.

The third requirement mandated by the Rule is for the lower court to ascertain "[w]hether there is a reasonable probability that the movant would have been acquitted or would have received a lesser sentence if the DNA evidence had been admitted at trial." Rule 3.853(c)(5)(C), Fl.R.Cr.P. Like 3.853(c)(5)(B), this provision necessitates two findings: whether there is a reasonable probability of acquittal; and, if not outright acquittal, would the DNA results produce a reasonable probability of a lesser sentence.

The lower court erred in its finding that the motion failed on its merits because Mr. Scott "failed to show a reasonable probability that the Defendant would have been acquitted or would have received a lesser

sentence if the DNA evidence tested favorably and had been admitted at trial." Vol.22, 4300 at ¶3. This finding is flawed because the record does not conclusively show that the defendant is not entitled to relief and the court never stated any such finding. Additionally, the lower court failed to attach any portions of the trial record or conduct an evidentiary hearing to determine this issue.

This Court dealt with a similar situation in <u>Schofield v. State</u>, 861 So.2d 1244 (Fla. 2003), wherein this Court stated: The trial court relied on the State's assertion that DNA testing would not exonerate Schofield, but it failed to attach any portions of the trial record or conduct an evidentiary hearing on this issue. Therefore, this court can rely only on the allegations made by Schofield and the State. <u>See Riley</u>, 851 So.2d at 812-13. Neither this court nor the trial court can consider the discrepancies between Schofield's and the State's allegations without considering the trial transcript or conducting an evidentiary hearing. <u>See id.</u> at 813. Accordingly, we reverse and remand for further proceedings.

<u>Schofield</u> at 1245-46 (emphasis added).

The holding in <u>Schofield</u> was in accord with and reinforced the Court's holding in <u>Riley v. State</u>, 851 So.2d 811 (Fla. 2003). In <u>Riley</u>, this Court directed that the trial court must consider the trial transcript or conduct an evidentiary hearing to resolve factual discrepancies between the defendant and the State and include them as part of its findings. <u>Id.</u> at 813. Such a directive is in line with the requirement in 3.850/3.851 proceedings, as well as Rule 9.141(b)(2)(D), which also state that the record portions conclusively demonstrating that a defendant is entitled to no relief must be attached, or the cause will be reversed and remanded for an evidentiary hearing or other

appropriate relief. See accord, Ortiz v. State, 884 So.2d 70, 71 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2004). Here, the trial court failed to attach or specifically reference the portions of the record or trial transcript, if any, that were relied upon to deny DNA testing. This was clear error because here, as in Schofield, "[n]either this court nor the trial court can consider the discrepancies between [Scott's] and the State's allegations without considering the trial transcript or conducting an evidentiary hearing." 861 So.2d at 1245-46. The failure of the lower court to abide by the Rule therefore requires this Court to remand these proceedings for DNA testing or an evidentiary hearing as to whether DNA testing is appropriate.

Additionally, and in violation of the Rule, the lower court never attempted to deal with the issue of the reasonable probability of a lesser sentence. This question is of manifest importance in a case where a death sentence has been rendered upon the movant, as in Mr. Scott's case. The jury recommendation of death for Mr. Scott was 7-5, the barest of majorities. It was error for the lower court to never even consider whether exculpatory DNA results would have possibly swayed just one juror to vote for life, rather than death.

Proportionality is always an issue in a capital case. This

Court has struggled with the proportionality issue in Mr. Scott's

case, as demonstrated by Justice Overton's dissent from denial of

rehearing more than 25 years ago:

I dissent from the denial of the petition for rehearing. There is a serious disparity in the sentencing of Scott and his co-defendant, Kondian, who pleaded guilty to murder and was sentenced to forty-five years imprisonment after the petitioner, Scott, was tried by a jury, convicted of murder, and sentenced to death. Petitioner correctly asserts that we have not addressed this issue in these proceedings. Even when the accomplice has been sentenced subsequent to the sentencing of the defendant Seeking review, it is proper for this Court to consider the propriety of disparate sentences, See Witt v. State, 342 So.2d 497,500 (Fla. 1977), (sic) to determine whether a death sentence is appropriate given the conduct of all participants in committing the crime.

Scott v. State, 419 So.2d 1058 (Fla. 1982).

In light of the narrow margin by which a death recommendation was made, and this Court struggling in its determination regarding proportionality, the finding of whether there is a reasonable probability that a lesser sentence would be entered is paramount in Mr. Scott's case. Unfortunately, the lower court failed to address this issue whatsoever, other than the conclusory statement that, "However, even if the Motion was technically legally sufficient, it fails on its merits because the Defendant has failed to show reasonable probability that the Defendant would have been acquitted or would have received a lesser sentence if the DNA evidence tested favorably and had been admitted at trial." Vol. 22, 4300. This statement is not nearly enough to deny Mr. Scott the requested DNA testing. The lower court failed to address any portion of the record or trial transcript in making this finding, nor did it attach the alleged portion of the record or transcript that demonstrated that Mr. Scott was conclusively entitled to no relief.

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