IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC07-1734

PAUL SCOTT

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Celia A. Terenzio
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No.: 0656879
1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
Telephone (561) 837-5000
Facsimile (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

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

(PCR 4192). The trial court held a non-evidentiary hearing on the motion. Scott offered the following argument:

Your Honor, ultimately what we are seeking here to do is, is to get the evidence tested to help establish that Mr. Scott did not strike the fatal blow, that it would either be exculpatory or at least might lead to a lesser punishment which is one of the circumstances contemplated by the rule.

(Tr. Vol. XXVI at 11). The Court orally denied the request and ruled as follows:

At best the movant has found an argument that would result in a, may be it would have made a difference; but there has been no showing and no meeting of the reasonable probability standard and that is what is required. And I refer you to Sireci versus Florida Si-r-e-c-i at 908, 312 Supreme Court 2005, in which the Supreme Court, found to the contrary that technical requirements were meet but still found that the motion was insufficient to support a hearing because it did not meet the reasonable probability test. So, if you look at everything in the light most favorable to the movant here I get all through the technical requirements, I still find that reasonable probability certainly has not been shown and as in that case, for example, there was fingerprint evidence. And so it was not really in dispute as to whether the individual was present. I do not find that the actually has been technically complete, there has not really been a showing as to how the evidence would exonerate Mr. Scott. So for those reasons, I deny the motion to the extent that the motion seeks an evidentiary hearing because I think this does not meet those two legal criteria but even if it did meet the technical criteria, there has not been a reasonable probability shown. So for that reason, I deny the motion.

(T Vol. XXVI at 19-20)(emphasis added). The trial court reduced its order to writing,

- 2. The Motion is technically legally insufficient in that Defendant fails to allege that he is innocent and fails to allege how the DNA testing required by the Motion would exonerate him of the crime of which he was convicted.
- 3. However, even if the motion was technically sufficient, it fails on its merits because the Defendant has failed to show reasonable probability that the Defendant would have been acquitted or would have received a lesser sentence if the DNA evidence tested favorably and had been admitted at trial. The other evidence at trial, specifically fingerprint evidence, indisputably demonstrated that the Defendant was present at the scene.

(PCR 4300-4301).

On appeal, Scott complains that the trial court erred in ruling that the motion was technically legally insufficient and the court failed to attach portions of the record or in any way detail its rationale for denying relief on the merits. Appellant is incorrect, as a review of the facts established at trial, including the defense offered by Scott, clearly establish that his identity was never genuinely disputed. Moreover, it was Scott who was required to explain how this blood evidence establishes his innocence. It was not the judge's burden to prove the negative. This Court has stated that,

it is the defendant's burden to explain, with reference to specific facts about the crime and the items requested to be tested, how the DNA testing will exonerate the defendant of the crime or will mitigate the defendant's sentence.

Robinson v. State, 865 So. 2d 1259, 1265 (Fla. 2004).

The clear requirement of these provisions is that a movant, in pleading the requirements of rule 3.853, must lay out with specificity how the DNA testing of each item requested to be tested would give rise to a reasonable probability of acquittal or a lesser sentence. In order for the trial court to make the required findings, the movant must demonstrate the nexus between the potential results of DNA testing on each piece of evidence and the issues in the case.

Hitchcock v. State, 866 So. 2d 23, 27 (Fla. 2004). Scott failed
to do so.

When assessing the possible relevance of the DNA testing, a court must take into account, the evidence that is to be tested in connection with the disputed issues in the case. Hitchcock, supra 866 So. 2d at 27. In this case the victim was savagely beaten to death in his own home. The unassailed evidence adduced at trial included the following. A violent struggle occurred at the victim's home. Alessi's injuries were brutal and numerous. Among the injuries inflicted upon him were six blows to the head, three of which were fatal. One of the head injuries was so severe it caused a compressed fracture to his skull. (ROA 1191-1211). The victim's hands and feet were tied very tightly while he was alive, with electrical cord and telephone wire. (ROA 861, 1190, 1193-1194). Jim Allessi had many bruises on the trunk of his body. Three fatal blows caused lacerations to the head. (ROA 1203). The victim's head was fractured at each of those sites. (ROA 1204). Throughout the entire house were broken articles, debris, and blood stains. (ROA 861-864, 903-904, 913, 920, 1301). Especially large amounts of blood were found on the living room wall next to the couch, on the couch and on a portion of the dining room rug. The victim was found on the couch. (ROA 864,924). Below the victim's feet was a statute of a teddy bear, partially broken ad scattered. (ROA 864, 937). The jury was shown a video of the entire crime scene which included a graphic depiction of the

tremendous amount of blood that was left at the crime scene. There was blood in almost every room of the house. (ROA 613, 766-776, 813- 816, 824-842). The jury knew that most of the blood found at the scene belonged to the victim, James Alessi.

Appellant's fingerprints were found throughout the house. Several were lifted from the cover of a book found on a coffee table. (ROA 945,948,1122-1124). Three prints were found on the neck of a broken vase in the kitchen. (ROA 946-947, 1123-1124, 1300). Another print was found on an ashtray located in the family room. (ROA 948, 1125). Another was found on a blood-tipped knife on the sofa next to the victim. (ROA 949, 1125-1126). It appears that the knife was used to cut the electrical cord used to bind the victim.

Appellant was arrested in California approximately a month after the crime. (ROA 777-779). Various items of jewelry including a golden bear charm was seized from Appellant's hotel room. Jim's business associate and his mother testified that Jim owned much jewelry including three golden bear charms. (ROA 1241-1242).

Two witnesses testified that Appellant and the co-defendant told them that were going to rob and kill a guy named Jim. (ROA 717-721, 722, 725-728). The conversation ended when the victim Jim Allessi drove up and Appellant and the co-defendant entered the victim's car. (ROA 732,992-995, 997-998).

The jury knew that co-defendant Richard Kondian's blood was at the scene because he had cut himself during the struggle. (ROA 614, 618, 1368, 1094-1096, 1430). The jury also knew that other blood stains at the scene, specifically from the shower could have belonged to either Scott or Kondian but not Alessi. (ROA 1175, 1184).

The defense at trial was that Scott, although present at some point, left before the robbery and murder occurred. (ROA 1355-1356, 1370). In support of that defense, Scott relied on that fact that no blood stains found that at the scene could be definitively tied to him. (ROA 1368, 1183). He argued, "I think from the testimony there is certainly no evidence that Paul Scott was bleeding." (ROA 1430. At no time did Scott ever admit that he participated in any struggle or altercation with the victim in self defense or in defense of someone else.

Based on the evidence presented at trial, it is undisputed that Scott was present at the scene of the crime as his fingerprints were found throughout the house. In fact Scott conceded this point to the trial court below. (PCR-T 16). Scott cannot identify what nexus exists between the blood evidence and his fingerprints found at the scene. Simply because he did not bleed at the scene does not establish that he did not administer any of the several fatal blows to the victim,

or that he did not participate in the underlying felony under a felony murder theory. That ruling was correct. The trial court properly concluded that the motion was technically legally insufficient. Summary denial was proper. See Galloway v. State, 802 So.2d 1173 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001) (upholding summary denial of DNA testing as it would only prove that co-defendants had sex with the victim, but it would not negate defendant's presence); Hartline v. State, 806 So. 2d 595 (5th DCA 2002) (upholding summary denial because defendant's admission to the crime illustrate that identity was not in dispute); compare Zollman v. State, 820 So. 2d 1059, 1063 (Fla. 2d 2002)(explaining that a challenge to identity was established as Zollman alleged he did not commit the rape, he was not there; there was only the victim and perpetrator; and the victim testified that the perpetrator ejaculated into her); Willacy v. State, 967 So. 2d 131, 145 (Fla. 2007) (upholding denial of DNA testing as such evidence would not negate Willacy's fingerprints at the scene, evidence of his presence in the neighborhood that day, use of the victim's credit card and car on the day of the murder); Robinson v. State, 865 So. 2d 1259, 1265-1265 (Fla. 2004)(affirming denial of DNA testing in murder and rape case as defendant stated that sex was consensual and shots were accidental); Preston v. State, 970 So.2d 789, 800 (Fla. 2007)(finding that defendant other evidence linked victim to including

fingerprints, therefore, simply because pubic hair on defendant's belt was not that of the victim did not create a reasonable probability of a different result); Cf. Clayton v. State, 912 So. 2d 355 (3rd DCA 2005)(upholding summary denial of request for DNA testing of because whether there was blood on defendant's shirt was not a disputed issue at trial).

Under Scott's alternative argument, if DNA testing revealed the presence of his blood, that would have bolstered his "defense of others" theory, that he was coming to the aid of another. This argument is in direct contradiction to his initial claim that DNA evidence would support his theory that his blood was not present and therefore he did not participate in the beating. Both theories cannot be true. The rule was never intended to allow a defendant to "float" several different contradictory theories and then pick the one that bests suits his purposes. See Hitchcock v. State, 866 So. 2d 23, 28 (Fla. 2004) (recognizing that DNA testing is not to be used as a fishing expedition).

With respect to the presence of Scott's blood, the state asserts that such evidence would inculpate him even further. As noted above, Scott emphatically told the jury that he did not bleed at the victim's house. (ROA 1355-1356, 370). This enabled him to maintain his story that he left the scene before the

struggle ensued. Obviously, if DNA testing demonstrates that he was bleeding at the scene, his defense would have been destroyed. Scott's request for DNA testing was properly denied.

Cf. Melton v. State, 949 So. 2d 994, 1012-1013 (Fla. 2006) (rejecting claim of newly discovered evidence as it contradicts defendant's earlier version).

In fact, in one of Scott's previous collateral proceedings, he unsuccessfully argued the recantation of witness Sotullo, would have entitled him to relief. Therein, Sotullo recanted a portion of his trial testimony regarding the substance of Scott's confession to him. Relief was denied because the "new evidence" contradicted Scott's statements from other proceedings. This Court explained:

Scott's next claim concerns the affidavit of Charles Soutullo, the State's witness, wherein he recants that part of his trial testimony where he stated that Scott had expressed his intention to rob the victim. We find that, under the record in this case, Soutullo's change of testimony would not have produced a different result. Scott acknowledged his participation in the victim's murder and Scott's own testimony during his clemency proceeding contradicts Soutullo's new statements.

⁵ Contrary to Scott's assertion, Richard Kondian has never admitted to killing James Alessi. At most Kondian has stated, that Scott came to his defense when Alessi attempted to sexually assault Kondian. He stated that both he and Scott struck Alessi and he and Scott left there together. This statement was not available at the time of trial. Kondian stated this for the first time seven years after Scott's trial. (PCR 4279-4298).

Scott v. Dugger, 634 So. 2d 1062, 1065 (Fla. 1994). The analysis in that case applies with equal force herein.

And finally with respect to proof that the blood in the "circle of blood" belonged to Mr. Alessi, again that in no way exonerates Appellant. Appellant makes much of the fact that Kondian stated years later that he hit the victim with a champagne bottle. Scott opines that the circle of blood was from the champagne bottle. 2 However, according to Scott's statement to Detective Collins of the Boca Police Department made a month after the murder he admitted that he struck the victim with a champagne bottle. (PCR 4207-4209). Clearly, the fact that both defendants readily admitted using a champagne bottle to strike the victim is not evidence that would create a reasonable probability that Scott would be exonerated or receive a lesser sentence. Robinson, supra, (finding request for DNA testing to be legally insufficient as pled because defendant admitted to shooting victim but claimed that sex was consensual.) Scott has never explained how he can overcome these obstacles.

The fact remains that both Kondian and Scott participated in the robbery and brutal beating of the victim, James Allessi.

DNA evidence will not alter that reality. See Galloway, supra

 $^{^{\}rm 2}$ No champagne bottle was ever recovered.

(upholding denial of request for DNA testing because results could not refute evidence that defendant was present and was also participating with co-defendant in the crimes); <u>Hitchcock</u>
<u>Supra</u>, (explaining that defendant must establish the relevant nexus between the DNA results and "specific facts about the crime" that would entitle him to mitigation of his sentence).

Scott claims that reversal is also required because the trial court did not attach portions of the record in support of its ruling. See Schofield v. State, 861 So. 2d 1244 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003). Again Scott is wrong as the facts of this case are distinguishable. The entire record on appeal from the trial is included in this appellate record. This Court can review the evidence/testimony against Scott including the critical fingerprint evidence referenced by the trial court, as well as what issues were in dispute at trial.

In the alternative the state would argue that if the court was required to attach just specific portions of the record, the failure to do so in this case was harmless. First, the trial court's rationale for denying relief is clear from the order. Scott's presence at the scene was established through his fingerprints, and therefore identity was not a genuinely disputed issue in this case. Therefore DNA testing of the blood could not negate that evidence. Cf. Anderson v. State, 627 So.

2d 1170 (1993)(explaining that as long as trial court explains its rationale for denying postconviction relief it is not necessary to attach portions of the record).

Second, the basis for the trial court's ruling was evident from the record of the proceedings below. For instance, Scott's counsel admitted at the non-evidentiary hearing that the record would demonstrate that fingerprint evidence was not in dispute at trial. (T-PCR 16). And, Scott admitted in his motion that he was in fact present at the victim's home, and that he participated in the beating. (PCR 4192 ¶7). Consequently, the basis for the denial of relief is supported by the record.

Finally, at the conclusion of Scott's initial brief he makes a constitutional challenge to the denial of DNA testing.

See I.B. at 15-16. However, this issue was never presented to the trial court below, therefore it is procedurally barred. See Occione v. State, 570 So.2d 902, 906 (Fla. 1990)(explaining, "'[i]n order to preserve an issue for appellate review, the specific legal argument or ground upon which it is based must be presented to the trial court.' Bertolotti v. Dugger, 514 So. 2d 1095, 1096 (Fla. 1987). This claim, therefore, has not been preserved."). In any event it is without merit. Cole v. State, 895 So. 2d 398, 403, n.1 (Fla. 2004) (finding that because DNA evidence would not have entitled him to any relief, his claim

that he has been denied access to evidence that could prove his innocence is in applicable); <u>Sireci v.</u> State, 908 So. 2d 321,325 n.7 (Fla. 2005)(same).

CONCLUSION

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